DA 11-3-87

A neg

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN EDWARD TRAYLOR,  
Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 70,051

STATE OF FLORIDA,  
Respondent.

FILED  
SID J. WHITE

JUL 29 1987

CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By \_\_\_\_\_  
Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN  
PUBLIC DEFENDER  
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID P. GAULDIN (WITH GREATFUL  
ACKNOWLEDGMENT TO STEVEN L.  
BOLOTIN)  
SPECIAL ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER  
POST OFFICE BOX 142  
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302  
(904) 222-5774

Attorney for Petitioner  
Florida Bar #261580

## II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts are reflected accurately in the District Court of Appeal's opinion in this case. However, the facts will be presented as petitioner presented them to the District Court of Appeal:

On June 7, 1980, the body of Tina Nagy was found in her apartment in Jacksonville, Florida (T-1136,1150-1152). She had been stabbed 22 times in the chest, and there was a ligature mark on her neck (T-1262,1270-1273). [The medical examiner testified at trial the stab wounds were the cause of death (T-1272-1273,1276-1277)].

Among the items of evidence which were discovered in the apartment was a palm print impression on the wall, and what appeared to be dried blood (T-1158; 1207). Subsequently, a crime lab technician cut out a piece of sheetrock containing the palm print, and turned it over to the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (T-1207-1209).

On June 11, 1980, petitioner, John E. Traylor, also known as Jason William Riley, was charged by information with the second degree murder of Ms. Nagy and a capias was issued for his arrest (R-162-165). Petitioner and Ms. Nagy had been involved for about a year in an intense and turbulent love affair (T-1883-1889; 1905-1908; see T-1854-1856). Ms. Nagy was married, but her relationship with petitioner was apparently common knowledge, even to her estranged husband, Julius (T-1560,1585,1605-1606,1614).

On August 5, 1980, the body of Debra Beason was found at her residence in Birmingham, Alabama (T-1738-1740). There appeared

to be a stab wound in her chest, and an electrical cord was stretched from around her neck through a cabinet handle, and tied to the refrigerator handle (T-1739).

Birmingham police learned that an individual known as Jason Riley had been seen with Ms. Beason on the night before her body was discovered, at a bar called the Blazer Grill (T-606). Riley was also seen leaving Ms. Beason's apartment the next morning (T-607).

The police contacted Riley's wife, Ginger, in order to ascertain his whereabouts (T-569,584). Ms. Riley told the police that she had met her husband when they were both patients on the psychiatric ward of the "UAB" Hospital (T-199-200,257,584). She told them that he was staying at the Siesta Motel in the adjacent town of Irondale (T-569,585). The detectives followed her to the motel (T-585).

There, Ms. Riley went to the room and got her husband to come out, whereupon the detectives arrested him and placed him in the patrol car (T-569,586-587).

[Subsequently, the Birmingham police ran Riley's prints through the "NCIC", and learned that he was John Traylor, and that he was wanted in Jacksonville, Florida, in connection with the Tina Nagy case (T-178,210,265-266)].

Petitioner had his first appearance in the Jefferson County, Alabama District Court on August 18, 1980; he was adjudged indigent and, upon his request for court-appointed counsel, Attorney Orson "Pete" Johnson was appointed to represent him (R-156-157).

Johnson, who was informed by letter of his appointment on the following day, contacted Detective George Grubbs of the Birmingham Police Department on August 20, 1980, informed him that he was representing petitioner, and instructed and requested that the detectives not talk to Traylor anymore unless he (Johnson) were present (T-286-287; see R-198).

Johnson had tried to get in touch with Sergeant James Gay, but Gay was not in the homicide office when the call was made (T-287). Consequently, Johnson spoke with Grubbs, who was the lead detective in the Beason case, and who was the only officer he could get in touch with in the homicide office (T-287, 239-240). He asked Grubbs to relay the message to Gay (T-303). Johnson came away from the conversation with the understanding that the detectives would not talk to petitioner anymore without informing him about it (T-287). Johnson also advised petitioner not to talk to the police (T-287-288).

On August 21, 1980, Detective John Warren of the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office received a phone call from Sergeant Gay, who told him that they had petitioner in custody in Birmingham; they had run his prints through the NCIC and obtained a "hit" that he was wanted in Jacksonville (T-178,210,265-266).

The next morning, August 22, 1980, Warren flew to Birmingham, where he was met at the airport by Detectives Grubbs and Gay (T-178). Warren was not made aware that petitioner was represented by an attorney (T-180). The detectives went to the prosecutor's office, and petitioner was brought down from the

jail to be interviewed (T-179-181).

Petitioner was brought from his jail cell to the interview room at the request of the Jacksonville detective (Warren) and at the direction of the Alabama detectives (Grubbs and Gay) (T-200-201; 208,267-268). Petitioner did not request or initiate the interview (T-208).

During the initial portion of the interrogation, Warren and Gay were in the room with petitioner, while Grubbs stood outside (T-181,1743). Warren advised petitioner of his Miranda rights, and asked him to sign the form if he understood them (T-182-184). Petitioner did so (T-184). Detective Warren told petitioner that he was there in connection with Tina Nagy:

As I stated earlier, I told him who I was, why I was there, had to do with Tina Nagy. He denied that at first, knowing Tina Nagy. I said, you know, you were boyfriend, girlfriend, I asked him when was the last time he saw her. Finally, he told me he saw her in May of 1980. I told him, I said, look I can put you in the room, you were there. Tina is dead, you killed her. I said, there's two sides to every story and I want to know your side. He got very quiet. Approximately five minutes he hung his head down, nothing was said for that period of time. Finally I asked him, I said, John, did you kill Tina. He nodded his head yes and I asked him why, and then he started telling me about the incident and why he did it.

(T-187).

Petitioner told Detective Warren that he and Tina had had an argument the night before; the next morning he woke her up and they argued some more (T-248). Tina slapped him, called him



a punk, and told him he should never have come out of prison (T-248, 1654). There was a struggle, in which Tina scratched petitioner's face and knocked his glasses off, and he punched her in the mouth (T-165). She ran into the kitchen and came back with a steak knife (T-1655). She told petitioner either that she could kill him and call the police because he was in her apartment, or that she would kill him for assaulting her in her apartment (T-248,1655). Petitioner grabbed her by the throat and pulled her to the floor, and she dropped the knife (T-248,1655).

Petitioner picked up the knife and began stabbing her (T-248, 1655). He then took her car keys and jewelry, and left the state (T-1655). Detective Warren asked petitioner about strangulation; petitioner denied strangling the victim, other than choking her to the floor (T-1656).

Detective Warren then asked petitioner about the Alabama murder:

I asked him about the Beason case, which is the Birmingham, Alabama case. Again, he wanted to deny that. I told him the cases are very similar. I said, you were in the scene in that case. Birmingham can put you in the scene, at which time he admitted to us that, yes, he did kill Tiny Nagy and Debra Beason.

(T-188).

Petitioner had met Debra Beason at a Birmingham bar (T-1674-1676). They went back to Ms. Beason's residence (T-1675). Petitioner and Ms. Beason were making love on the living room floor, and Ms. Beason began making "sexual pleasure sounds" which reminded petitioner of Tina (T-1666,1719). He looked up and saw

a butcher knife on the coffee table; he grabbed it and stabbed Ms. Beason once in the chest and once in the back (T-1666,1719).

Petitioner denied that he strangled Ms. Beason, and denied any knowledge of an electrical cord (T-1667,1719).

Detective Warren then wanted to tape record petitioner's statements, but petitioner said he would prefer to write them out (T-188-189). Petitioner wrote out a confession to the Nagy murder (T-189-191,1657-1661). He then asked for and received permission to call his wife; the conversation lasted nearly an hour (T-191-192,251-252).

Petitioner told her essentially what he had just told Detective Warren (T-252). Then petitioner began to give a written statement concerning the Alabama homicide (T-194). Detective Grubbs was in the room with petitioner, and Warren and Gay were standing outside (T-194,253,293).

Johnson went into the interview room, and spoke angrily with Grubbs (T-294). He said he was going to see "Bugger Red" (Chief Meyers) about it, because he had told Grubbs not to talk to his client (T-294,304). Grubbs then left the room, and Johnson remained inside with petitioner for several minutes (T-195-196,254,294). Johnson took the sheet of paper on which petitioner had been writing (T-255,303).

When Johnson came back out of the room, he told the detectives he didn't want them talking to his client anymore and to take him back upstairs (T-196,254).

Detective Warren was aware at the time he interviewed petitioner on August 22, 1980, that there was an information

in Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida, charging petitioner with the second degree murder of Tina Nagy, and that there was a *capias* for his arrest on that charge (T-209-210).

Warren testified (at the hearing on petitioner's motion to suppress the August 22, 1980, statements) that he did not serve a warrant on petitioner nor did he advise petitioner that he was under arrest for the Nagy murder (T-216). [At a subsequent hearing, on petitioner's second motion to suppress, Warren testified on proffer that he did advise petitioner on August 22, 1980, that he was under arrest for the death of Tina Nagy (T-644)].

In any event, there was a hold on petitioner from Jacksonville through the NCIC, as a result of information and *capias* from Duval County (T-209,209,214,222). Consequently, petitioner was not free to leave the jail (and would not have been free to leave the jail even if the Alabama case had not existed) at the time he was interrogated by Detective Warren.

On March 11, 1983, pursuant to the Interstate Agreement On Detainers and based on the Duval County information charging petitioner with second degree murder, petitioner was delivered from Alabama into the temporary custody of the State of Florida (R-80).

---

<sup>1</sup>Petitioner's second motion to suppress was not primarily directed to the August 22, 1980, statements. However (as a result of information obtained from the state on discovery after the initial motion to suppress was denied), appellant sought to relitigate the factual question of when Detective Warren informed appellant he was under arrest (T-240-42, 558-64). The state objected to relitigating this question (T-559). The trial court permitted the defense to proffer Warren's testimony that he first advised petitioner that he was under arrest in the Nagy case on August 22, 1980 (T-563-64; 641-45).

On March 17, 1983, the state sought and obtained an indictment charging petitioner with first degree murder in the death of Ms. Nagy (R-1-2).

The state filed a notice of intent to introduce "similar fact" or "Williams Rule" evidence at trial; specifically, evidence concerning the murder of Debra Beason in Birmingham, Alabama (R-94).

On August 5, 1983, the defense sought to suppress the oral and written confessions, in both the Florida and Alabama cases, said confessions made by petitioner on August 22, 1980 (R-158-160,179-187).

While a number of grounds were asserted in the motion, the defense placed its main emphasis on the violation of petitioner's Sixth Amendment rights (see R-179-186; T-332-348).

After a hearing on August 11, 1983, the trial court denied the motion to suppress (T-173-384; R-197-204).

In its findings of fact, the trial court specifically found that the Birmingham attorney, Pete Johnson, called Detective Grubbs and instructed him that he did not want the police to talk with his client, and that this request was not communicated by Grubbs to any other law enforcement officer of either Alabama or Florida (R-198).<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup>Since the prosecutor, in the hearing on the motion to suppress, attempted to attack Johnson's credibility on this point, it is important to note that the trial court, as trier of fact, chose to believe the witness' testimony.

The trial court recognized that petitioner's Sixth Amendment argument presented a serious question requiring close scrutiny (R-201; T-383-384). However, the trial court concluded that petitioner's confessions made to Detective Warren on August 22, 1980, did not take place during a critical stage of the Florida prosecution (R-201).

The court based its conclusion on the fact that (according to Warren's testimony in the first suppression hearing) petitioner was not under arrest on the Florida charge, and on the state's argument that the information charging appellant with second degree murder and the capias issuing therefrom:

...were filed not for the purpose of instituting a then-and-there prosecution of the defendant but was absolutely necessary for the entry of the defendant's capias into the national computers for his detention whenever found caused by his own flight from the State of Florida.

(R-201).

In the alternative, the trial court concluded that petitioner had waived his right to counsel before confessing to both the Florida and Alabama murders (R-201). The court found as a fact that petitioner was brought from the jail to the District Attorney's Office at the request of Detective Gay, to be interviewed by (Florida) Detective Warren (R-198). The court further found that petitioner "...raised no objection and did not refuse to go." (R-198).

The trial court based its finding of a waiver on the "totality of the circumstances", and re-emphasized the facts

that petitioner never personally invoked his right to counsel on either charge, and that he "disregarded" his Alabama lawyer's advice not to talk to the police (R-202).

The court also noted petitioner's awareness of his right to counsel, and his knowledge regarding the status of the Alabama and Florida cases (R-202). The trial court did not find that petitioner had in any way initiated the interrogation.

On December 2, 1983, petitioner was found incompetent to stand trial, and committed to the state hospital in Chattahoochee (R-283-289). On August 16, 1984, he was adjudged competent and was returned to Jacksonville to stand trial (R-314).

The case proceeded to trial before a jury on February 25-March 1, 1985. Over the defense's renewed objections (T-1651-54; 1658,1715,1718,1725), petitioner's oral confession of August 22, 1980, both the Nagy (Florida) and Beason (Alabama) murders, and his written confession of that date to the Nagy murder, were admitted into evidence (T-1646-1679,1709-1735). ✓

Over defense objection (T-1791,1808-1810,677-699; R-339,342, 402-404), the state was permitted to introduce letters written by petitioner to Judge Soud in Jacksonville and to Judge Charles Nice in Birmingham, in which petitioner stated his desire to change his pleas to guilty, and asked for the death penalty (R-446, 451-452; T-1835-1837,1851-1852). [The letter to Judge Soud was written from Chattahoochee, and was apparently mailed in violation of a notice issued by the state hospital restricting petitioner's communication (R-342,402-404; T-677-691,1852-1853)].

"Williams Rule" evidence concerning the Alabama murder, largely consisting of petitioner's statements, was presented to the jury (T-1665-1668,1718-1727,1737-1745,1753-1755,1835,1851), over defense objection (R-140-151; T-1340-1386,1663-1664).

The state also introduced the testimony of a FDLE fingerprint analyst, who stated his opinion that petitioner's palm print matched the palm print which was found on the wall of Ms. Nagy's apartment (T-1509-1510,1524). The comparison was done through photographs, because the piece of sheetrock which contained the palm print was lost by the state (T-1505,1525; R-248-249; T-446,1426-1427).

FDLE Serologist Stephen Platt testified that there was blood staining present on the piece of wall board which contained the palm print (T-1431-1433). Platt found human blood staining on various items of evidence (including a blanket, a sheet, a rug, a doll, and several articles of clothing), but was unable to determine a blood type (T-1436-1456). He also found human blood staining on the blade of the knife which was found in the victim's hand (T-1448,1155). Platt did not find any blood staining on a length of electrical cord which was found in the room (T-1449-1450, 1158).

FDLE Microanalyst Linda Hensley testified that several hairs found on Ms. Nagy's person matched petitioner's head hair or pubic hair, and could have come from the same source (T-1547-1548). Other hairs found on Ms. Nagy's person did not match petitioner's hair (T-1550-1553).

The defense did not contend that petitioner was not the person responsible for Ms. Nagy's death; the defense position was that petitioner's act was committed in the heat of passion, and that the jury should convict him of manslaughter (T-2041-44,2047).

The state, on the other hand, contended that the killing of Ms. Nagy was premeditated, and that the jury should convict petitioner of first degree murder (T-1994,2025,2071-2073). To this end, the state presented testimony regarding a phone conversation between petitioner and Beth Linderman (the manager of the store where Tina Nagy worked) in which petitioner said that if Tina didn't leave town in 24 hours, she'd be dead (T-1580,1589,1623).

Testimony of both state and defense witnesses indicated that petitioner was in extreme emotional turmoil over Tina's breaking up with him (T-1557,1562,1565,1615-1617,1854-1856,1869-1870,1979).

The manager of the apartment complex where Ms. Nagy's body was found, and the police officer who responded to the scene, testified that the screen to the bedroom window was bent and partially out (T-1135,1138,1143-1144). The prosecutor theorized that petitioner had gained entrance to the apartment in this manner (T-1998,2013-2014,2063-2064).

However, Ms. Nagy knew that petitioner was in her apartment before she returned home (T-1567,1570-71). Ms. Nagy's friend, Beverly Marsland, who had been waiting for Ms. Nagy at Smuggler's Lounge, called her apartment to find out where she was; petitioner answered, identified himself, and said that Tina wasn't home (T-1566-1567).



When Tina arrived at Smuggler's, Ms. Marsland told her that petitioner had answered the phone in her apartment; Tina seemed to be surprised (T-1567,570-571). Tina left Smuggler's between midnight and 12:30 a.m. (T-1571-1572).

When her body was found the following day, she was wearing a sheer negligee (T-1152,1198-1199,2035-2036). There was evidence of recent sexual intercourse (T-1273-1274).

In his closing argument, in an attempt to rebut petitioner's "heat of passion" defense, the prosecutor emphasized a number of asserted discrepancies between petitioner's confessions made to Detective Warren on August 22, 1980, and the physical and circumstantial evidence as testified to by the state's witnesses (T-2015-19). The prosecutor had this to say about the way the confessions were obtained:

And, of course, you heard the testimony from Detective Warren who went to Alabama once he found that they had John Traylor in custody and it's interesting because there sits Jason Riley in an Alabama jail, a Jason Riley. When all of a sudden in walks a Jacksonville homicide detective, a homicide in Jacksonville, Florida, and he says to him, are you John Traylor? He says no. Denies that. He says, did you kill Tina Nagy. He says no, I didn't do that. Then Detective Warren says, I know you're John Traylor, I know you killed Tina Nagy. Now, there's two sides to every story, so why don't you tell me about it? The defendant thought. You recall Detective Warren's testimony, he put his head down and he thought, and I submit to you Detective Warren, an experienced, experienced homicide detective, he out-smarted the defendant because he allowed him, he told him there's two sides to every story, as if one side could be

disputed and your side could be be believed,  
but, in fact, the other side of that story,  
two sides to the story, the other side of  
it is the undisputed and uncontroverted  
physical evidence at the crime scene that  
showed there was a premeditated murder.  
The undisputed side of the story are the  
witnesses who heard the threats that the  
defendant made to the victim prior to her  
death. That's the undisputed side. But he  
gave the defendant a chance to explain it.  
So, what did the defendant do? He gave a  
written statement and oral statements that he  
presented -- that he wrote out that would  
exculpate himself. He presented a statement  
that would be most favorable to his explana-  
tion of how the crime went. But, see, it  
just doesn't fit with the physical evidence  
and with what the witnesses said about the  
prior threats. It just doesn't fit.

(T-2015-16).

The prosecutor then argued:

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