OA 11-3.87

Case No. 70,051 Deputy Clerk

AUG 18 1987

PLERK, SUPRAA COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN EDWARD TRAYLOR,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BRADFORD L. THOMAS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR #365424

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (904) 488-0290

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

As earlier noted, the concurring opinion correctly recognized that Petitioner could also waive his Sixth Amendment right to counsel on the Debra Beason murder charge. Petitioner did waive that right. In fact, considering Petitioner has been <u>specifically</u> advised by his lawyer not to discuss the Beason murder with police, this Court has a firm record upon which to affirm the trial court's finding of waiver. (R 199-205). Thus,

- 36 -

although Petitioner had obviously invoked his right to counsel on the Beason charge, he could also waive the right to counsel. <u>Conneticut v. Barrett</u>, 479 U.S. ____, 93 L.Ed.2d 920, 928, 107 S.Ct. _____ (1987); <u>Tinsley v. Parvis</u>, 731 F.2d 791 (11th Cir. 1984); <u>Love v. Young</u>, 781 F.2d 1307, 1308-1314, <u>supra</u>, <u>Traylor</u>, 498 So.2d 1301-02. This Court should affirm the trial court's ruling on waiver, and hold the District Court unnecessarily applied the harmless error analysis.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE II

PETITIONER'S EXCULPATORY STATEMENTS THAT HE KILLED TINA NAGY, AND HIS ADMISSION HE KILLED DEBRA BEASON, DID NOT AFFECT THE JURY VERDICT OF SECOND-DEGREE MURDER OF TINA NAGY, AND THE TRIAL COURT'S ADMISSION OF THOSE STATEMENTS WAS HARMLESS ERROR AS DEFINED BY THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT AND THIS COURT.

The District Court should have determined all of Petitioner's statements admissible at trial, as did the trial court. <u>See Tinsley v. Purvis</u>, 731 F.2d 791 (11th Cir. 1984); <u>Love v. Young</u>, 781 F.2d 1307 (7th Cir. 1986), <u>cert. denied</u>, 106 S.Ct. 2923 (1986). Should this Court hold differently, the State respectfully asserts the record requires this Court to affirm the conviction of second-degree murder. In <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 12 F.L.W. 368, 372 (Fla. July 17, 1987), this Court held that a reviewing court must find an error harmless if there is not a "reasonable likelihood the error affected the trial's outcome. The error in the instant case was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because Petitioner's statements "confessed" only to manslaughter, and the statements could not reasonably had affected the jury verdict of second-degree murder.

The State submits that Petitioner admitted to killing Tina Nagy and Debra Beason in part to relieve his conscience and to attempt to minimize the consequences. Human beings are complex;

- 38 -

PAGE(S) MISSING

here in the admission of Petitioner's statement.

The District Court however found Petitioner's statements were obtained in violation of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel 498 So.2d at 1300. If this Court agrees, it must analyze the record to determine whether the constitutional error "was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Delaware v. Van Arsdall</u>, 475 U.S. _____, 89 L.Ed.2d 674, 684, 106 S.Ct. _____ (1986). The test of a reasonable doubt is <u>not</u> whether the Petitioner can speculate or fantasize that there is a mere possibility the error affected the verdict:

> The harmless error doctrine recognizes the principle that the central purpose of a criminal trial is to decide the factual question of the defendant's guilt of innocence. [citations ommitted], and promotes public respect for the criminal [justice] process by focusing on the underlying fairness of the trial rather than on the virtually inevitable presence of immaterial error.

89 L.Ed.2d 684-5. In <u>Van Arsdall</u> the Court held a violation of the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to cross-examination was harmless.

The Court's references to the inestimable importance of promoting public respect for the criminal trial process deserves consideration. <u>See Traynor</u>, <u>The Riddle of Harmless Error</u> 50 (1970), where Mr. Traynor warned that reversal for error regardless of its effect on the judgment "encourages litigants to

- 40 -

abuse the judicial process and bestirs the public to ridicule it."

Soon after deciding <u>Van Arsdall</u> the Supreme Court reaffirmed the vitality of the harmless error doctrine in <u>Rose v. Clark</u>, 478 U.S. _____, 92 L.Ed 460, 106 S.Ct. _____. In <u>Rose</u> the trial court erroneously instructed the jury on the definition of the required mental state for second-degree murder and violated the defendant's due process rights. The Court of Appeals held it could not apply the harmless error analysis as the defense at trial was expressly based on the lack of malice. The Supreme Court reversed, recognizing that it could easily apply the harmless error analysis:

> Where a reviewing Court can find that the record developed establishes guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, the interest in fairness has been satisfied and the judgment should be affirmed. As we have repeatedly stated, "The Constitution entitles a criminal defendant to a fair trial, not a perfect one." Delaware v. Van Arsdall [Citation ommitted]

92 L.Ed.2d at 460. The record here demonstrates Petitioner's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt and this Court should affirm the judgment.

The Court in <u>Rose</u> stated unequivocally that when the State provides a defendant a trial before an impartial jury and the assistance of counsel, the reviewing Court must determine whether the constitutional error affected the fact-finding process. The error is harmless if it "did not <u>contribute to the verdict</u> obtained." (Emphasis in original) <u>Rose</u> at 470, quoting <u>Chapman</u> <u>v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967).

Under <u>Rose v. Clark</u>, the alleged violation of Petitioner's Sixth Amendment right to counsel is subject to the harmless error analysis. 92 L.Ed.2d at 460. <u>Milton v. Wainwright</u>, 407 U.S.s 371 (1972). As in <u>Milton</u>, the record <u>sub judice</u> demonstrates Petitioner's guilt of second-degree murder beyond a reasonable doubt. The jury heard extensive testimony that Petitioner had threatened to kill Tina Nagy after she left him on June 5, 1980. Petitioner told Tina's co-worker that Petitioner would kill Tina if "she doesn't leave town in 24 hours." (T 1579-80). Carolyn Joyce heard Petitioner make this threat. (T 1587-90, 1623-26).

Police found evidence that Petitioner broke into Tina's apartment, indicated by a cut and damaged screen. (T 1155-56) Petitioner's bloody palmprint was found five feet up the wall straight off the end of the bed. Police found blood on a blanket, the murder weapon, a white-bra, a slip, a T-shirt, pillow cases, a doll, two rugs, and on tissue. (T 1203;1324-31; 1436-54). Dr. Lipkovic found bruises on her neck consistent with someone grabbing her neck and applying pressure. (T 1260, 1278) He found a well-defined, "straight line like" depression or furrow on her neck that came from a ligature pressed against her

- 42 -

neck, consistent with the type of electrical cord found by the bed. (T 1262-64). The ligature mark could have caused Tina to lose consciousness and occurred within the same time as the other wounds. (T 1275-76). The ligature was removed before causing death. (T 1286-7).

Petitioner "criss-crossed" the serrated knife across Tina's neck. Tina was likely dragged across the carpet resulting in carpet burn injuries. Most significantly, Tina suffered cut wounds commonly described by forensic pathologists as defensive wounds. There were bruises on Tina's right leg consistent with contact with the bottom rail of the bed. (T 1260-66; 1676) Her lip was cut and could have been caused by a knuckle hitting her. (T 1266, 1288).

Furthermore, Petitioner wrote letters to the Alabama and Florida trial judges where he admitted killing Debra Beason and Tina Nagy. He wrote Judge Soud that the death penalty should be imposed. (T 1835-87). The jury also heard other evidence of Petitioner's murder of Debra Beason beside the August 22nd, 1980 statements. The jury considered testimony from detectives Gay and Grubbs concerning details of Beason's murder. The jury heard details of the Beason murder apart from Petitioner's statement. (T 1721-26; 1731-34; 1739-42; 1751-55).

As the opening statements by both parties indicated, the State's theory at trial was that Petitioner murdered Nagy after

- 43 -

consciously deciding to do so. (T 1115-1133). In an effort to show this premeditation, the State elicited testimony indicating Petitioner had threatened to kill Nagy. Additionally, the State introduced detailed evidence of the number, nature, and depth of injuries to Nagy's body, and the killing of Debra Beason, and evidence indicating that Ms. Nagy tried to defend herself, and evidence demonstrating that she appeared to be beaten (her lip busted), jerked into the window screen, stabbed, and strangled. The State focused on the disarrayed room and blood found in various places to further demonstrate premeditation. Finally, the State attempted to capitalize on omissions in Petitioner's August 22, 1980 confessions and his denial of stangulation to insinuate that Petitioner confessed only to lessen his degree of culpability. Petitioner's defense, on the other hand, was that he killed Nagy in the heat of passion and thereby committed only manslaughter.

The jury obviously rejected the State's first-degree murder charge against Appellant. The evidence without the August 22, 1980 statements however demonstrated beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant (1) knew his brutal actions were reasonably certain to kill Ms. Nagy; (2) committed those acts with ill will, hatred, spite, or an evil intent; (e.g. Petitioner's threats, his murder of Beason, and his theft of Ms. Nagy's car and jewelry.) and (3) Petitioner's acts demonstrated an indifference to human life. Most importantly, the State asserts that Petitioner's

- 44 -

"confessions" <u>exculpated</u> Petitioner of murder and presented a story of manslaughter, just as Petitioner argued at trial. (T 2041-44, 2047). Petitioner has not suggested that he would have claimed he was not involved in the Tina Nagy killing, absent the August 22, 1980 statements.

Petitioner did not admit to strangling Tina in his August 22nd, 1980 statement. He denied strangling Tina or Debra Beason. (T 1656; 1719; 1659-69; 193; 250) In his statement he claimed that Tina "came back with a knife in her hand and said that she could kill me for hitting her because I was in her apartment. . ." (R 1659-61). Petitioner's "confession" was in part an attempt to evade criminal responsibility for brutally killing a young woman. In light of the jury's refusal to find Petitioner guilty of premeditated murder, the affect of the statement was harmless. <u>See also Gilvin v. State</u>, 418 So.2d 996 (Fla. 1982); <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 328 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1976); and <u>Ferrey v. State</u>, 457 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984).

The record demonstrates beyond a reasonable doubt that the allegedly erroneous admission of Petitioner's statements could not have constributed to his second-degree murder conviction. <u>See Martin v. Wainwright</u>, 770 F.2d 918 (11th Cir. 1985). Had Petitioner claimed he never knew Tina Nagy, or he wasn't in her apartment that night, he might have a legitimate argument the error was harmful. The State however didn't need Petitioner's

- 45 -

statement to prove he was there and that he'd threatened Tina just before the murder.

In <u>Chapman v. California</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Court recognized the harmless-error doctrine must avoid affirming the admission of "highly important and persuasive evidence...though legally forbidden, ... <u>into a trial in which the question of guilt or</u> <u>innocence is a close one</u>." 386 U.S. at 22-23. Here the question of Petitioner's guilt of second-degree murder is not close. The victim's numerous stab wounds, bruises, and other evidence of strangulation, along with Petitioner's trial admission that he killed Ms. Nagy demonstrate the harmlessness of the admission of the August 22, 1980 statements.

In <u>United States v. Hastings</u>, 461 U.S. 499, 509 (1983) the Supreme Court clearly delineated the harmless-error doctrine as applied to alleged federal constitutional errors:

> Since <u>Chapman</u>, the Court has consistently made clear it is the duty of the reviewing court to consider the trial record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional errors.

The Court in <u>Hastings</u> noted that the doctrine recognizes the "prompt administration of justice and the interests of the <u>victims.</u>.." Id. Here, two victims are dead, killed by Petitioner seven years ago. The District Court properly found the error harmless, although not employing identical language expressed by this Court in <u>State v. Diguillio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129

- 46 -

(Fla. 1986). Furthermore, contrary to Petitioner's argument, the District Court did examine the affect the alleged error had on the jury, as mandated by <u>Diguillio</u>: "it is indicative of harmless error that despite the confessions, the jury did not find Traylor guilty of premeditated murder as sought by the State." 498 So.2d 1301. This Court should affirm the District Court's ruling, as consistent with <u>State v. Diguillio</u>.

However, this Court should clarify its language in <u>Diguillio</u> which can be read to require a reviewing court to reverse even where the "the evidence of [defendant's] guilt was overwhelming if not conclusive." <u>See Lee v. State</u>, 12 F.L.W. 1498 (Fla. 1st DCA June 26, 1987). The Court's recognition in <u>Lee</u> that this Court's language in <u>Diguillio</u> imposes a greater burden on the State than that delineated in Sections 59.04 and 924.33, Florida Statutes (1985), reveals the need for clarification.

The basic premise of the harmless error doctrine is that the reviewing court must determine whether the evidence of guilt, absent the erroneously admitted evidence demonstrates, the criminal defendant's culpability beyond a reasonably doubt. It is impossible for a reviewing court to literally determine whether an alleged trial error "did not affect the jury deliberations and influence its verdict...." Lee, 12 F.L.W. at 1500. All a reviewing court may examine is the record before it.

- 47 -

In the case <u>sub judice</u> the evidence supporting Petitioner's conviction of second-degree murder absent the challenged exculpatory "confession" is unequivocal. It is not manslaughter to choke and stab a young woman <u>twenty-two</u> times, drag her around the room, punch her in the face, cut her throat, and slash her hands as she tries to defend herself. (T 1260-88). This Court should affirm the District Court's holding that any error in admitting Petitioner's statements of August 22, 1980 were harmless. <u>See Hansbrough v. State</u>, 12 F.L.W. 305 (Fla. June 26, 1987). To hold otherwise would violate the principles of the harmless error doctrine as defined by the United States Supreme Court and applied to federal constitutional issues.

The United States Supreme Court has held that a reviewing court will not assume prejudice. The only yardstick by which to measure the potential effect of error is the record itself. In <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 104 S.Ct. 2852 (1984), the Court recognized the "question is whether there is a <u>reasonable probability</u> that, absent the errors, the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt." 466 U.S. at 695. Although <u>Strickland</u> involved a <u>defendant's</u> burden. The reasoning delineated by the Court is applicable. Here, the <u>State</u> must show the factfinder would <u>not</u> have had a reasonable doubt repecting guilt, absent the error committed at trial. <u>See Greer v. Miller</u>, 789 F.2d 438 (7th Cir. 1987), <u>rev'd</u>, ____ U.S. ____, 55 U.S.L.W. 5126 (June 10, 1987). In

- 48 -

<u>Greer</u> the Supreme Court recognized the <u>Chapman</u> test to be whether the "properly admitted evidence at trial 'was sufficient to prove defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. . .'" <u>Id</u>. at S1101. In <u>Schneble</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Supreme Court stated that "judicious application of the harmless error rule does not require that we indulge assumptions of irrational jury behavior. . . " 405 U.S. at 431-32. The State urges the Court to affirm the District Court's holding, and clearly recognize that the harmless error test is whether the factfinder would have found the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, absent the error.

CONCLUSION

This Court should reserve the District Court's ruling that the trial court erroneously admitted Petitioner's statements, as Petitioner waived his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. This Court should affirm the District Court's holding affirming Petitioner's conviction.